THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-26-8261
Appeal No. 2017-000015

RECEIVED

JUL 27 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Wylie Neil Doyle, Timothy Lee, Anthony J. Mottola, III, and David Todd.....Appellants,

v.

Horry County d/b/a Horry County Fire Rescue..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Paul Porter (SC Bar No. #100723)
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A (29201)
Post Office Box 11675
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-799-9530
Fax: 803-799-9533
Email: paul@cbphlaw.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER OR NOT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ON A SOUTH CAROLINA PAYMENT OF WAGES CLAIM, AND RELATED PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL AND UNJUST ENRICHMENT CLAIMS, CONTINUES TO ACCRUE WITH EACH NEW UNDERPAYMENT?
- II. WHETHER OR NOT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS EQUITABLY TOLLED WHERE APPELLANT-EMPLOYEES BROUGHT PAY CONCERNS UP THE CHAIN OF COMMAND AND THERE WAS TESTIMONY THAT THE RESPONDENT-EMPLOYER EXPRESSED THAT IT WAS ANALYZING, AND DID ANALYZE, THE UNDERPAYMENT AT ISSUE UNTIL JULY 3, 2014?
- III. WHETHER OR NOT THE RESPONDENT-EMPLOYER IS EQUITABLY ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AS A BAR TO APPELLANT-EMPLOYEES CLAIMS WHERE TESTIMONY INDICATED THAT THE RESPONDENT EXPRESSED TO APPELLANT-EMPLOYEES THAT IT WAS WORKING ON THEIR INTERNAL PAY COMPLAINTS UNTIL JULY 3, 2014.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Wylie Neal Doyle, Timothy Lee, Anthony J. Mottola, III, and David Todd (“Appellant-Employees”) are veteran cross-trained firefighter paramedics (“Firefighter/Paramedic”) with nearly 100 years in combined service to Respondent Horry County (“Respondent-Employer”)¹. (R. p. 19, ¶¶ 5-6). Appellant-Employees’ claims arose out of the implementation of a pay scheme adjustment to Firefighter/Paramedics called “propay”. That pay adjustment occurred on March 29, 2008, and was followed by employee complaints and years of intra-employer discussion about whether or not pro-pay was properly implemented. This lawsuit was preceded by an announcement by the Respondent-Employer’s fire chief on July 3, 2014 that the propay system was properly implemented.

This is an appeal from a directed verdict granted to the Respondent-Employer on September 21, 2016 after two days of trial, and the December 9, 2016 denial of a timely motion for reconsideration and a new trial. (R. pp. 1-10). Appellant-Employees filed this case on December 11, 2014 alleging: (1) violation of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act (S.C. Code Ann. 41-10-10 *et seq.*), (2) promissory estoppel, and (3) unjust enrichment. (Complaint). Respondent-Employer answered on January 15, 2015. No dispositive motions were filed prior to trial.

This case was tried on Tuesday September 20, 2016 and September 21, 2016. The Trial featured the testimony of: each of the Appellant-Employees (R. pp. 48-107, 143-185, 206-238); Matthew Smith, a Battalion Chief who was involved in the implementation and later review of propay (R. pp. 107-140); Dennis R. Gibbins, Jr., a Firefighter/Paramedic who experienced the same pay issues as Appellant-Employees, and Fred Crosby, the Respondent-Employer’s Fire Chief from 2013-2015 (R. pp. 193-206). Respondent-Employer, after the close of Appellant-Employees’ case-in-chief, principally argued that it was entitled to a directed verdict on the basis that the statute of limitations

¹ Appellant Mottola was promoted to Lieutenant/Paramedic in 2013.

had run. (R. pp. 238-266). Appellant-Employees argued that the statute of limitations was subject to continuous accrual, was equitably tolled, and that the Respondent-Employer was equitably estopped from asserting it. (*Id.*). The Court ruled that the Statute of Limitations barred each of the Appellant-Employees' claims. (R. pp. 266-267). The Trial Court affirmed its holding in denying Appellant-Employees' motion for reconsideration and a new trial. (R. pp. 1-8).

Appellant-Employees' timely filed this notice of appeal on January 5, 2017.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant-Employee Neil Doyle began working for the Respondent-Employer immediately after high school and then again in 1993. (R. pp. 48-49). Doyle was hired as an Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) in 1993. (R. p. 50). Doyle became a Paramedic in 1995, and a cross-trained Firefighter/Paramedic in 2001. (R. pp. 51-52). Appellant-Employee Timothy Lee began working for the Respondent-Employer as an EMT in 1997. (R. pp. 223-224). Lee was promoted to Firefighter/Paramedic in 2007. (R. p. 224). Appellant Employee Anthony Mottola began working for the Respondent-Employer in 2000 as a Firefighter/EMT. (R. p. 144). Mottola became a Firefighter/Paramedic in 2007. (R. p. 145). Appellant-Employee David Todd began working for the Respondent-Employer in 1989, as a EMT, immediately following his honorable discharge from the Navy. (R. pp. 207-208). Todd became a Firefighter/Paramedic in 2001. (R. p. 209).

Appellant-Employees were paid, throughout their employment, on a paygrade step process; whereby, employees would be placed into a grade (comprising of a salary range) based on their job title and given steps within that grade (that corresponded to positions within the grade's salary range) based on their years of experience. (R. p. 51, 280-285). Appellant-Employees were in paygrade 17 as Firefighter/Paramedics until the implementation of pro-pay in 2008. (R. p. 53). Appellant-Employees received consistent annual step increases to their pay each year they were employed until 2008. (R. p.

54). After the implementation of pro-pay in 2008, step increases were frozen and there were no across the board increases in pay until across the board 2% raises in 2015 and 2016. (R. p. 84).

Respondent-Employer changed the way cross-trained personnel, including Appellant-Employees who were Firefighter/Paramedics, were classified through what it referred to as propay on March 29, 2008. (R. pp. 72-73). Appellant-Employees received a letter from their fire chief, contemporaneous with pro-pay implementation, which described pro-pay for Firefighter/Paramedics as follows:

All Firefighter/Paramedics have been regraded from a Grade 17 to a grade 15 in whatever step you were currently in. A grade 17 step 4 would now be a grade 15 step 4. After the regrading, Propay of \$7,500.00 was added back into the Firefighter Paramedic's salary. An example would be:

A new hire paramedic, as a grade 17 was making \$33,666.55 a year.

Now, a new hire paramedic at grade 15 will make \$30,968.83 a year with an additional \$7,500.00 in Propay for a yearly total of \$38,468.83. That is an increase of \$4,802.28.

Another example for Propay in reference to Firefighter/Paramedics is:

Grade 17 step 4 is = \$36,359.87
Grade 15 step with Propay is = \$40,946.35

(R. pp. 271-272). Battalion Chief Matthew Smith, an employee of the Respondent-Employer since 1993, was placed on a committee by the Respondent-Employer's Assistant Administrator Paul Whitten in 2006 to review the pay structure in the County's Public Safety Division; propay arose from that committee. (R. pp. 107-108). Battalion Chief Smith testified that propay should have been implemented as follows:

Q: On Exhibit Nine, would you have explained to Timothy Lee the formula you used to calculate propay?

A: Yes, Sir.

Q: And how did you explain it?

A: That an employee was placed in Grade 15, their number of years were calculated into steps, and beyond that there was an additional \$7,500 added to their salary as propay.

Q: Is that still your understanding sitting here today of how propay was supposed to work?

A: Yes, Sir.

(R. pp. 126:25-127:9, 290²).

However, when propay was implemented, the Appellant-Employees, and other senior firefighter/paramedics, were not given full credit for their years of service (step) when moved from Grade 17 to Grade 15 causing their pay to be less than expected, and their earning capacity to decrease considerably. (R. pp. 75, 280-285). Specifically, after propay:

- Appellant-Employee Neil Doyle, based on his years of experience, would have been in grade 17, step 16 when propay was initiated on March 29, 2008. (R. p. 57). Instead, Appellant-Employee Doyle was paid \$44,809.08 consistent with a grade 15, step 10 base pay of \$37,398; whereas, according to his years of experience he should have been paid \$48,378, with a base pay of \$40,878³ consistent with grade 15, step 16; resulting in a difference of \$3,568.92 per year. (R. pp. 85-89, Plaintiff 286).
- Appellant-Employee Lee, based on his years of experience, would have been between grade 17, step 9-10 when propay was initiated on March 29, 2008. (R. p. 229). Instead, Appellant-Employee Lee was paid \$41,428.19 consistent with a grade 15, step 4 base pay of \$33,928.19; whereas, according to his years of experience he should have been paid approximately \$44,662.60 with a base pay of \$37,162.60 consistent with grade 15, step 10; resulting in a difference of \$3,234.14 per year. (R. pp. 229-231; 302).

² Battalion Chief Smith, in his email to Appellant-Employee Lee, explained propay calculation as follows:

We take your date of hire. Place you in Grade 15 with your steps for the number of years you've been here, and add \$7,500 for Pro[p]ay. There are some inherent issues. I'm dealing with at this point as to the 4 years of suspended steps and such but it should actually be the easiest thing to figure out if it's just plugged in and left alone.

(R. p. 290).

³ To ascertain an employee's step after propay, the \$7,500.00 is subtracted from an employee's post-propay salary arriving at the employee's base salary or step within Grade 15. (R. p. 86-87).

- Appellant-Employee Mottola, based on his years of experience, would have been between grade 17, step 7-8 when propay was initiated on March 29, 2008. (R. p. 169). Instead, Appellant-Employee Mottola was paid \$39,562.38 consistent with a grade 15, step 1 base pay of \$32,162.38; whereas, according to his years of experience he should have been paid approximately \$43,423.84 with a base pay of \$35,923.84 consistent with grade 15, step 8; resulting in a difference of \$3,861.46 per year. (R. pp. 168-171, 294). Mottola, as a result of the alleged propay inequity, received less than the standard raise for his promotion to Lieutenant; he received a 1.6% increase whereas the standard is at least 5%. (R. p. 150-151; *See also*, R. pp. 295-297⁴).
- Appellant-Employee Todd, based on his years of experience, would have been between grade 17, step 18 when propay was initiated on March 29, 2008. (R. p. 215). Instead, Appellant-Employee Todd was paid \$46,143.71 consistent with a grade 15, step 12 base pay of \$38,643.71; whereas, according to his years of experience he should have been paid approximately \$49,617.61 with a base pay of \$42,117.61 consistent with grade 15, step 10; resulting in a difference of \$3,473.90 per year. (R. pp. 214-216, 301).

Appellant-Employees ultimately reported to the Fire Chief as Firefighter/Paramedics. (R. pp. 56-57). Appellant-Employees first raised concerns to the Fire Chief regarding the pay inequity between what they expected to receive and what they received. (R. p. 75). Appellant-Employee Lee described the process by which he and other Firefighter/Paramedics raised concerns about their pay was to follow the chain of command:

Q: Was your base pay to propay – was your base pay propay on par with your years of experience?

⁴ Plaintiff's Exhibit 12, an email chain wherein top Fire Department officials describe the pay inequity caused by Appellant-Employee Mottola's promotion, was not admitted into evidence on the basis of asserted prejudice. (R. pp. 151-163). Appellant-Employee's contend that ruling was error and that the exhibit is not unduly prejudicial and is probative of Appellant-Employee Mottola's attempts to properly address his pay concerns up the chain of command and demonstrative of the extended pay inequity he encountered when he was promoted.

A: No, no, it wasn't.

Q: Tell me what you did about that.

A: Several of us communicated and realized, hey, something's not right about our pay, went through our chain of command to let them know something was wrong and we'd like to have somebody look at it and from thereon, I don't know what happened to it.

(R. p. 226:7-15; *see also* pp. 149-150, and 212 (Appellant-Employees Mottola and Todd discussing taking their concerns up the chain of command)). Appellant-Employees eventually received feedback from the Fire Chief that the propay implementation was being reviewed for errors and would be "fixed." (R. p. 77-78). In fact, via Staff Meeting minutes posted department-wide, the Fire Rescue Department administration declared on November 11, 2013:

The issue of pro pay and the way it was applied to long term employees has been clouded and inconsistent and was on the to do list from early on. We are still working on this issue especially for those that have topped out in the pay grade and we had a meeting with finance yesterday and believe we have an agreement on fixing this issue. They are researching with Sally who is actually affected and hopefully those in the situation will see a fix in their paychecks in the next month or so.

I think this issue was brought to me in February or March of last year, it has taken longer than I wanted to get to this point I do want people to know that we don't forget and we are still working on these things even though some seem to take forever to get fixed.

(R. pp. 273-274). Fred Crosby, then the Fire-Chief, posted an E-blast to all Fire Department personnel on December 19, 2013 stating "All FF Paramedics have been reconciled[] [c]ost to fix is 33K+ per year" (R. pp. 275-276)⁵. Despite these assurances, Chief Crosby announced on July 3, 2014, that propay was implemented correctly except for three Firefighter/Paramedics who were overpaid and one Lieutenant/Paramedic who was underpaid due to a promotion.⁶ (R. p. 80). Chief Crosby made this proclamation based on a conclusion given to him by the Respondent-Employer's Human

⁵ Additionally, Appellant-Employee Todd was told by two separate Battalion Chiefs that he should be expecting an increase to his pay due to the improper implementation of propay. (R. p. 213).

⁶ The Lieutenant/Paramedic referred to was Appellant-Employee Mottola; however, no changes were made to his pay; even though, the pay of the alleged overpaid employees was taken back. (R. pp. 79-80).

Resources and Finance Departments, but testified that Human Resources and Finance did not explain the basis of their conclusion or “show their work.” (R. pp. 200, 205).

Chief Crosby, after announcing that the propay analysis would not result in a broad correction to compensation, directed employees to ask any questions to human resources that they had regarding the propay analysis. (R. p. 80). Appellant-Employees raised concerns with Human Resources, but received little to no response. (R. p. 75). Appellant-Employee Doyle sent a written inquiry to human resources, but received no response. (R. pp. 80-81, 277-279). Appellant-Employee Lee was placed on a list by a Human Resources Official to meet with Human Resources Director Patrick Owens about propay, but Owens never met with him. (R. p. 227). Owens did meet with Appellant-Employee Mottola, but did not explain why Mottola’s pay was correct. (R. pp. 166-167).

Testimony revealed that a propay review committee reached a different conclusion than Human Resources and Finances’ conclusion announced by Chief Crosby on July 3, 2014. Battalion Chief Smith, who was on the original propay committee, was assigned by Interim Chief Kenneth Beans and later Chief Crosby to analyze the implementation of propay along with employees in the Respondent-Employer’s Finance Department, due to pay concerns raised by a number of Firefighter/Paramedics. (R. pp. 111-112). Battalion Chief Smith, in this post-propay analysis, prepared a document showing that, based on his understanding of how propay should have been implemented, Appellant-Employees Doyle, Lee, and Todd were underpaid between \$7,535.17 per year and \$4,546.98 per year. (R. pp. 123-125, 289). Smith’s analysis did not include Appellant-Employee Mottola, who had already been promoted to Lieutenant; because, Smith was solely reviewing Firefighter/Paramedics at the time he generated his spreadsheet. (R. p. 124). Smith, regarding Appellant-Employees Doyle, Lee, and Todd, testified:

Q: Did you determine that David Todd had appropriately received his full propay?

A: No, Sir.

Q: What was the difference in what he received in total and what he should have received?

A: \$7,535.17 annually.

Q: Neil Doyle, had he received his total due?

A: No, Sir.

Q: What was the difference and what was he due?

A: \$4,546.98 annually.

Q: Timothy Lee, had he received his total due?

A: No, Sir.

Q: What was his total due?

A: \$6,258.38.

(R. p. 125:6-19). Chief Crosby testified that, based on Smith's analysis, he believed Appellant-Employees' salaries were due to be increased. (R. p. 199).

Appellant-Employees filed this lawsuit less than six months after Chief Crosby's July 3, 2014 announcement that the review of propay was completed, and their pay would not be adjusted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from an order granting a Rule 50(a), SCRCF directed verdict, and the denial of Appellant-Employees' Rule 59(a),(e), SCRCF motion for reconsideration and a new trial.

"On appeal from an order granting a directed verdict, the appellate court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the party against whom the directed verdict was granted." *Mullinax v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co.*, 326 S.C. 453, 456, 485 S.E.2d 103, 105 (Ct. App. 1997), *aff'd*, 333 S.C. 89, 508 S.E.2d 848 (1998); *citing*, *Whelan v. Welch*, 304 S.C. 548, 405 S.E.2d 836 (Ct.App.1991); *Unlimited Services, Inc. v. Macklen Enter., Inc.*, 303 S.C. 384, 401 S.E.2d 153 (1991). The Trial Court in ruling on a motion for a directed verdict: "must eliminate from its consideration all evidence contrary to or in conflict with the evidence favorable to the nonmoving party and give to the nonmoving party every favorable inference that the facts reasonably suggest." *Mullinax v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co.*, 326 S.C. 453, 456, 485 S.E.2d 103, 105 (Ct. App. 1997), *aff'd*, 333 S.C. 89, 508 S.E.2d 848 (1998); *citing*, *Collins & Sons Fine Jewelry, Inc. v. Carolina Safety Sys., Inc.*, 296 S.C. 219, 371 S.E.2d 539 (Ct.App.1988).

This case involves actions at law and in equity. “When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, the court is presented with a divided scope of review, and each action retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of review on appeal.” *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 17, 640 S.E.2d 486, 495 (Ct. App. 2006); *citing*, *Blackmon v. Weaver*, 366 S.C. 245, 248-49, 621 S.E.2d 42, 44 (Ct.App.2005); *Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Sys. & Servs., Inc.*, 338 S.C. 572, 580, 527 S.E.2d 371, 375 (Ct.App.2000) (citations omitted). “When reviewing a motion for directed verdict [at law] or JNOV, an appellate court must employ the same standard as the trial court.” *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 18, 640 S.E.2d 486, 495 (Ct. App. 2006). “When reviewing a motion for directed verdict [in equity] or JNOV, an appellate court must employ the same standard as the trial court. *Wright*, 372 640 S.E.2d at 495.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court held that Appellant-Employees’ claims were barred by the statute of limitations. (R pp. 265-266); (Order on Directed Verdict 9/21/16). Appellant-Employees contend: (1) that the statute of limitations on their claims is subject to continuous accrual, (2) that the statute of limitations was equitably tolled, and (3) that the Respondent-Employer is equitably estopped from raising the statute of limitations as a defense.

I. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN A PAY CASE CONTINUOUSLY ACCRUES UPON EACH UNDERPAYMENT.

The Trial Court rejected Appellant-Employees’ continuous accrual argument in accord with *Maber v. Titex Corp.* 331 S.C. 371, 500 S.E.2d 201 (Ct. App. 1998). The Trial Court reasoned: “this argument was previously considered by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in *Maber* . . . and it was rejected.” The Court of Appeals did not consider the application of continuous accrual to a statutory wage payment action. In fact, the *Maber* Court specifically remanded the Maher’s case so that he could elect to pursue his available remedies under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act:

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