STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 16 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2014-CP-26-8261

Appellate No.: 2017-000015

Wylie Neil Doyle, Timothy Lee, Anthony J. Mottola, III and David Todd Appellants,

vs.

Horry County d/b/a Horry County Fire Rescue Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

McNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
Henrietta U. Golding SC Bar #02173
James K. Gilliam SC Bar #76695
Post Office Box 336
2411 Oak Street, Suite 206
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578
(843) 444-1107
Attorneys for Respondent

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

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

Accordingly, pursuant to the discovery rule and the Court of Appeals’ ruling in Maier, the statute of limitations for Appellants’ causes of action commenced with the issuance of the Statement of Wages form signed by each Appellant. In April 2008, Appellants, according to their own testimony, became aware that the Propay increase they received was incorrect, at least according to their understanding of Propay. From there, Appellants had three (3) years from the time they received written notice of their change in pay to bring suit. Appellants did not file suit until December 11, 2014. Because Appellants failed to file suit within three (3) years of when they received written notice of their change in pay, their causes of action for violation of the Wage Act, promissory estoppel, and quantum meruit are barred by the statute of limitations. See S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 41-10-80(C) (requiring causes of action under the Wage Act to be commenced

within three (3) years); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) (The statute of limitations applicable to actions on “contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied” is three years for actions arising on or after April 5, 1988.).

Appellants argue Maher is inapplicable because the Court of Appeals did not review plaintiff’s Wage Act cause of action on appeal. In Maher, the plaintiff asserted causes of action for breach of contract and violation of the Wage Act to recover the unpaid bonuses. Because the jury returned a higher verdict on the breach of contract claim, the plaintiff elected that remedy over his Wage Act claim. On appeal, the Court of Appeals considered whether the plaintiff’s breach of contract claim was barred by the statute of limitations and conducted the analysis above. In their brief, Appellants argue, without citation to any authority, that the result in Maher would have been different had the Court of Appeals analyzed the facts under the Wage Act.

Appellants’ argument fails to consider the nature of a Wage Act claim. The Wage Act “does not create an independent right to wages.” Anselmo v. W. Paces Hotel Grp., LLC, No. 9:09-2466-MBS, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 29520, at *30 (D.S.C. Mar. 18, 2011). The Wage Act simply requires employers to pay employees “all wages due.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-40(A). The source of the “wages due” to an employee is not the Wage Act itself, but it is the employee’s contract, the employer’s policies, or the employer’s wage notification form (*e.g.* Terms of Employment Notice Form). Meisner v. ZymoGenetics, Inc., No. 3:12-684-CMC-PJG, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 133704, at *45 (D.S.C. July 30, 2014); Carolina All. for Fair Empl. v. S.C. Dep’t of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation, 337 S.C. 476, 490, 523 S.E.2d 795, 802 (Ct. App. 1999).

The analysis in Maher would have been the same under the Wage Act, because the issue would have been the same. The issue in Maher is whether to apply the continuous accrual doctrine or the discovery rule to plaintiff’s claim for unpaid bonuses. The Court of Appeals determined the

discovery rule applied to the facts in Mahe, because the alleged “wrong” occurred in 1987, when the company eliminated the fifty percent bonus plan. The Court found the company’s elimination of the fifty percent bonus plan constituted “a single wrong with continuing effects,” and thus, the statute of limitations for plaintiff’s claims began with this single wrong and continued for a period of three (3) years. The Court further observed that the discovery rule afforded the plaintiff ample opportunity to discover and act upon the company’s elimination of the bonus plan, “without need for application of the ‘continuing wrong’ doctrine in this situation.” The Court of Appeals would not have employed a different analysis if viewing the evidence in Mahe under the Wage Act. As set forth above, in a Wage Act cause of action, the plaintiff merely alleges the employer failed to pay the employee “wages due” under a contract or Statement of Wages form. In Mahe, the thrust of plaintiff’s Wage Act claim was the same as his breach of contract claim—that his employer failed to pay bonuses to him. The Court clearly would have conducted the same analysis if analyzing the claim under the Wage Act.

As such, the Court of Appeals’ decision in Mahe is directly on point in determining whether to apply the continuous accrual doctrine or the discovery rule to Appellants’ Wage Act and equitable claims against the County. Like Mahe, the alleged “wrong” occurred when the County implemented Propay in April 2008. The Appellants testified they discovered their pay was incorrect when they signed the Statement of Wages form in April 2008. (**R. p. 103; R. p. 182; R. pp. 220-21; R. pp. 225-26**). Therefore, like Mahe, Appellants’ statute of limitations began in April 2008 and expired three years later.

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in finding Appellants' causes of action were barred by the statute of limitations.⁶

B. Wage Act Does Not Require Application of the Continuous Accrual Doctrine

Appellants next argue that a "plain reading" of the Wage Act requires adherence to the continuous accrual doctrine.

As an initial matter, Appellants' argument that a "plain reading" of the Wage Act requires adherence to the continuous accrual doctrine is not preserved for appellate review. Appellants never made this argument to the trial court in opposing the County's motion for directed verdict. (**R. pp. 238-68**). Appellants made this argument for the first time in their post-trial motion. As such, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. See S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp., 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) ("It is well settled that an issue may not be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.").

Even if this argument were preserved for appeal, it is legally incorrect. The plain text of the Wage Act makes no reference to the continuous accrual doctrine, nor does it provide that the statute of limitations begins anew with each incorrect paycheck. The Wage Act sets forth a general statute of limitations, requiring claims asserted under its provisions to be commenced within three years. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-80(C). Appellants cite no precedent interpreting the Wage Act in accordance with their argument. Furthermore, Appellants' argument disregards the Court of Appeals' ruling in Maher, where the Court found a former employee's claim for wages against his former employer was not subject to the continuous accrual doctrine.

⁶ Appellants treat their causes of action for violation of the Wage Act, promissory estoppel, and quantum meruit as the same for purposes of their statute of limitations argument. The County has responded to them in the same fashion.

Accordingly, the statutory text of the Wage Act does not require this Court to apply the continuous accrual doctrine in this case.

II. EQUITABLE TOLLING

The trial court correctly refused to apply the equitable tolling doctrine to save Appellants' claims from the statute of limitations.

“Equitable tolling is judicially created; it stems from the judiciary’s inherent power to formulate rules of procedure where justice demands it.” Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehab. Ctr., 386 S.C. 108, 115, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009) (citing Rodriguez v. Superior Court, 176 Cal. App. 4th 1461, 98 Cal. Rptr. 3d 728 (Ct. App. 2009)). “Where a statute sets a limitation period for action, courts have invoked the equitable tolling doctrine to suspend or extend the statutory period to ensure fundamental practicality and fairness.” Hooper, 386 S.C. at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32. Equitable tolling may be applied “[i]n order to serve the ends of justice where technical forfeitures would unjustifiably prevent a trial on the merits” Id. The party seeking to invoke the doctrine of equitable tolling bears the “devoir of persuasion” and must establish a “compelling basis for awarding such relief.” Ocana v. Am. Furniture Co., 2004 NMSC 18, 135 N.M. 539, 91 P.3d 58, 65 (N.M. 2004) (citing 54 C.J.S. Limitations of Actions § 115).

“[E]quitable tolling typically applies in cases where a litigant was prevented from filing suit because of an extraordinary event beyond his or her control.” Hooper, 386 S.C. at 116, 687 S.E.2d at 32 (2009). “Equitable tolling applies either where the defendant is shown to have actively misled or prevented the plaintiff in some extraordinary way from discovering the facts essential to the filing of a timely lawsuit, or where the plaintiff has timely raised the same claim in the wrong forum.” Kaplan v. Morgan Stanley & Co., 2009 VT 78, ¶ 11, 186 Vt. 605, 610, 987

A.2d 258, 264 (Vt. 2009). “[E]quitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use.” Hooper, 386 S.C. at 117, 687 S.E.2d at 33.

Appellants fail to raise any compelling reason to justify the equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. Appellants testified they believed their wages were incorrect when they signed their respective Statement of Wages form in April 2008. (**R. p. 103; R. p. 182; R. pp. 220-21; R. pp. 225-26**). Appellants point to no evidence demonstrating the County actively misled or prevented them from timely filing suit within the limitations period. Appellants argue they attempted to resolve the Propay issue with County before resorting to litigation, and for this reason, the Court should equitably toll the statute of limitations. (**Appellants’ Final Brief, p. 15**). Appellants cite to no case law applying the equitable tolling doctrine under such circumstances. Furthermore, the evidence reveals Appellants did not actively attempt to resolve the Propay issue with the County, from the time of the Propay increase in April 2008 until the commencement of this action on December 11, 2014.

The Propay issue was dormant from the time the County issued the Statement of Wages forms in April 2008 until 2013. The record reflects no actions taken by Appellants to complain about Propay to anyone with the County from April 2008 until 2013. Matthew Smith testified he had no involvement with Propay from 2007, when the Working Group disbanded, until 2013. (**R. p. 111; R. p. 121; R. p. 124**). The only Fire Chief the Appellants ever communicated with about Propay is Fred Crosby. (**R. p. 77; R. p. 150; R. p. 213; R. p. 226**). Crosby did not become Fire Chief until 2013. (**R. p. 194**). Appellants presented no evidence—no documents, no testimony—showing they communicated with another Fire Chief about Propay prior to 2013. As for Human Resources, the record reflects Appellants did not begin discussing the Propay issue with Human

Resources until 2014, following Chief Crosby's video announcement that all employees were paid correctly. (R. p. 80; R. p. 164; R. p. 166; R. pp. 217-18; R. p. 227).

By the time Appellants finally raised the Propay issue with the County in 2013, the statute of limitations on their claims had long since expired. As set forth above, the statute of limitations on Appellants' claims commenced in April 2008, with the issuance of the Statement of Wages forms, setting forth their respective salary after the implementation of Propay. The statute of limitations on Appellants' claims expired three years later—in April 2011. None of the communication with and from Chief Crosby or Matthew Smith in 2013 or with Human Resources in 2014 can resuscitate Appellants' claims.

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, this Court should refuse to apply the doctrine of equitable tolling to save Appellants' claims from the statute of limitations.

III. EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL

The trial court correctly refused to apply the doctrine of equitable estoppel to bar the County from raising the statute of limitations as a defense.

Equitable estoppel operates to deny a party "the right to plead or prove an otherwise important fact." Parker v. Parker, 313 S.C. 482, 487, 443 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1994). "The doctrine of estoppel applies if a person, by his actions, conduct, words or silence which amounts to a representation, or a concealment of material facts, causes another to alter his position to his prejudice or injury." Rushing v. McKinney, 370 S.C. 280, 293, 633 S.E.2d 917, 924 (Ct. App. 2006). Prejudice to the other party is an essential element of equitable estoppel. Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Prop. Regime, 307 S.C. 339, 344, 415 S.E.2d 384, 387 (1992).

With regard to the party estopped, the elements of equitable estoppel are: (1) conduct by the party estopped which amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts; (2)

the intention that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; and (3) knowledge, actual or constructive, of the true facts. Maier, 331 S.C. at 381, 500 S.E.2d at 209. As to the party claiming estoppel, the elements are (1) lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question, (2) reliance upon the conduct of the party estopped, and (3) prejudicial change in position. Southern Dev. Land & Golf Co., v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Auth., 311 S.C. 29, 33, 426 S.E.2d 748, 750 (1993).

Appellants' argument that the County should be equitably estopped from raising the statute of limitations defense is not preserved for appellate review. Appellants never made this argument to the trial court in opposing the County's motion for directed verdict. (**R. pp. 238-268**). Appellants made this argument for the first time in their post-trial motion. As such, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. See Dawkins v. Mozie, 399 S.C. 290, 294, 731 S.E.2d 342, 345 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding an issue not preserved for appellate review, where the appellants failed to raise it during the hearing before the trial court and argued it for the first time in their post-trial motion).

Even if this issue were preserved, Appellants fail to demonstrate the elements necessary for equitable estoppel. In their brief, Appellants argue the doctrine should be applied because on November 19, 2013, Chief Crosby sent notes from a staff meeting to all Fire/Rescue employees. In the notes, Chief Crosby stated, "[W]e had a meeting with finance yesterday and believe we have an agreement on fixing the issue." (**R. p. 274**). Appellants argue this statement from Chief Crosby, who by his own admission had no authority whatsoever to set Appellants' wages, justifies the application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel. (**R. p. 201**). Appellants' argument disregards the fact that by the time Chief Crosby sent the staff notes on November 19, 2013, the statute of limitations for Appellants' claims had long since expired. All of the Appellants testified they

believed their pay was incorrect when they signed the Statement of Wages form in April 2008. (R. p. 103; R. p. 182; R. pp. 220-21; R. pp. 225-26). Therefore, the statute of limitations for any deficiencies in their pay began in April 2008 and expired in April 2011, and Chief Crosby's statement that he "believe[s] we have an agreement on fixing the issue" in November 2013 does not bar the County from asserting the statute of limitations as a defense.

Furthermore, Appellants point to no evidence of any inequitable conduct on the part of the County sufficient to justify equitable estoppel. Likewise, they point to no evidence demonstrating their conduct warrants this relief.

Accordingly, this Court should find the trial court did not err in refusing to apply the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

IV. ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS

As established by the Supreme Court in I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) and later adopted as Rule 220(c) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, this Court may affirm the trial court's ruling, granting the County's motion for directed verdict, for any ground appearing in the record. In granting the County's motion for directed verdict, the trial court found Appellants' claims were barred by the statute of limitations and granted the County's motion for directed verdict on that basis alone. Substantively, Appellants' causes of action also fail as a matter of law because: (A) Appellants cannot assert a cause of action for violation of the Wage Act, where the County paid Appellants those wages set forth in their respective Statement of Wages form; (B) Appellants fail to demonstrate the elements of a promissory estoppel cause of action; and (C) Appellants fail to demonstrate the elements of a quantum meruit claim.

A. Wage Act

Appellants do not have a cause of action for violation of the Wage Act, because the Wage Act only obligates the County to pay Appellants those wages set forth in their respective Statements of Wages forms, which the County did.

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